VIRGINIA:

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE CITY OF RICHMOND
John Marshall Courts Building

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, )

EX REIL. MARK R. HERRING, )

ATTORNEY GENERAL, )
) Civil Action No.

Plaintiff, )

)

V. )

)

SHIVA FINANCE, LLC, )

a Delaware limited liability company, )

)

Defendant. )

)

COMPLAINT

The Plaintiff, the Commonwealth of Virginia, by, through and at the relation of its
Attorney General, Mark R. Herring (the “Attorney General” or the “Commonwealth”), petitions
this Court to declare that the activities in which the Defendant, SHIVA FINANCE, LLC, d/b/a
“Advance Financial 24/7” (“Advance Financial” or “Defendant”), has engaged constitute
violations of the Virginia Consumer Protection Act (“VCPA”), Virginia Code §§ 59.1-196 to 59.1-
207. The Plaintiff prays that this Court grant the relief requested in this Complaint and states the
following in support thereof:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. The Circuit Court for the City of Richmond has authority to entertain this action and
to grant the relief requested herein pursuant to the VCPA, and §§ 8.01-620 and 17.1-513 of the
Code of Virginia.

2. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Virginia Code § 8.01-262(3) as the

Defendant regularly conducts substantial business activity in this forum.



3. In accordance with Virginia Code § 59.1-203(B), prior to commencement of this
action, the Plaintiff gave the Defendant written notice that these proceedings were contemplated
and a reasonable opportunity to appear before the Office of the Attorney General to demonstrate
that no violations of the VCPA had occurred, or, in the alternative, to execute an appropriate
Assurance of Voluntary Compliance (“AVC”) that is acceptable to the Commonwealth. The
Defendant agreed to execute an AVC that is acceptable to the Commonwealth.

PARTIES

4. The Plaintiff is the Commonwealth of Virginia, by, through and at the relation of
its Attorney General, Mark R. Herring.

5. Advance Financial is a Delaware limited liability company headquartered in
Nashville, Tennessee.

6. Advance Financial operates as a lender, offering open-end lines of credit to
consumers in the Commonwealth of Virginia solely via the Internet.

FACTS

7. During the period from October 2017 to the present, Advance Financial has
offered to make and has made cash advances through its open-end line of credit product to
Virginia consumers.

8. In connection with its open-end line of credit product, Advance Financial provided
Virginia consumers with a “Line of Credit Disclosure and Account Agreement” (the “Contract”).

EXHIBIT 1.



9. From October 2017 through January 20, 2020, the Contract included an arbitration

provision (the “Arbitration Provision™) which stated, in pertinent part:

in arbitration, a third party ("Arbiter”} solves Disputes in a hearing
An alternative to){"hearing”). You, related third parties, and we, waive the right to go to
What is arbitration? [court, court. Such “parties” waive jury trials.

In this Clause, the word “Disputes” has the broadest possible meaning,
This Clause governs all "Disputes” involving the parties. This includes all
claims even indirectly related to your application and agreements with us.
This includes claims related to information you previously gave us. It
includes all past agreements. It includes extensians, renewals,
refinancings, or payment plans. it includes claims related to collections,
privacy, and customer information. it includes claims related to setting

Which Disputes are aside this Clause. It includes claims about the Clause’s validity and
covered? All Disputes. scope. It includes claims about whether to arbitrate.
10. The Arbitration Provision also included an option for “small-claims court,” so that

the parties may litigate a case in small-claims court instead of submitting to arbitration:

Can small-claims Each party has the right to arbitrate, or {0 go to small-claims court if the
court solve some small-claims court has the power to hear the Dispute. Arbitration will solve
Yes

all Disputes that the small-claims court does not have the power to hear.
If there is an appeal from small-claims court, or if a Dispute changes so
that the smali-claims court loses the power to hear i, then the Dispute will
Disputes? only be heard by an Arbiter.

11, The Virginia Code defines “small-claims courts™ as those which have jurisdiction,
concurrent with the general district court, over civil disputes in amounts of up to $5,000 (exclusive
of interest) and do not permit the parties to be represented by attorneys. Va. Code §§ 16.1-122.1
through 122.4.

12. From October 2017 through February 1, 2020, Advance Financial filed 1,971

lawsuits against its consumer borrowers in general district courts throughout the Commonwealth.



13. Advance Financial did not pursue arbitration in these collection cases.

14. Advance Financial also did not file these collection cases in small-claims court, but
rather in general district courts, where the parties may be represented by attorneys.

15. Advance Financial was represented by counsel in each of these lawsuits.

16. As of August 19, 2020, of the 1,971 collections lawsuits, Advance Financial has (a)
nonsuited 260 lawsuits; (b) otherwise dismissed (without prejudice) 207 lawsuits, and (c) taken a
judgment in 1,504 lawsuits. Of the 1,504 lawsuits that it reduced to judgment, Advance Financial
(d) initiated garnishment proceedings in 929 lawsuits, and (e) received funds via a garnishment or
other collection efforts (including any voluntary payments made) on such judgments in 527
lawsuits.

17.  Advance Financial misrepresented to consumers in its contract that a;H disputes
would be heard in either arbitration or in small-claims court, and instead it hired counsel and filed
1,971 lawsuits in general district courts all over the Commonwealth.

18. The Commonwealth, through its Attorney General, issued a notice of violation
(“NOV?”) letter to Advance Financial on December 10, 2019. EXHIBIT 2.

19. Advance Financial continued to obtain default judgments and accept payments
from garnishees after December 10, 2019.

20.  On or about January 22, 2020, Advance Financial amended its Arbitration

Provision as follows:

Each party has the right to arbitrate, or to go to small-claims court or
General District Court if those courts have the power to hear the Dispute.
Arbitration will solve all Disputes that the smali-claims court or General

Can small-claims District Court do not have the power to hear. If there is an appeal from
court or General small-claims court or General District Court, or if a Dispute changes so
District Court solve that the small-claims court or General District Court loses the power to
some Disputes? Yes hear it, then the Dispute will only be heard by an Arbiter.




COUNT I - VIRGINIA CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT

21. The Commonwealth re-alleges and incorporates herein by reference all matters set
forth in paragraphs 1 through 20 above.

22. Advance Financial is now, and was at all relevant times mentioned herein, a
“supplier” of “goods” or “services” in connection with “consumer transactions,” as those terms are
defined in § 59.1-198 of the VCPA.

23. By advertising, making and collecting on loans primarily used for personal, family,
or household purposes, Advance Financial engaged in “consumer transactions,” as defined in §
59.1-198 of the VCPA.

24. In connection with consumer transactions, the VCPA prohibits suppliers from,
among other things:

a. Misrepresenting that goods or services have certain quantities, characteristics,
ingredients, uses, or benefits pursuant to § 59.1-200(A)(5) of the VCPA; and

b. Using any other deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, or
misrepresentation in connection with a consumer transaction pursuant to § 59.1-
200(A)(14) of the VCPA.

25. Advance Financial violated the VCPA through the acts and practices described in
this Complaint, including, but not limited to, by misrepresenting that all disputes would be heard in
cither arbitration or in small-claims court, and instead filing 1,971 lawsuits in general district courts
all over the Commonwealth in violation of § 59.1-200(A)(5) and (14) of the VCPA.

26. Individual consumers have suffered harm as a result of the aforesaid violations of the
VCPA.

27. Advance Financial willfully did the acts described herein in violation of § 59.1-



200(A)(3) and (14) of the VCPA.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff, Commonwealth of Virginia, prays that this Court enter the

Order Approving and Adopting Assurance of Voluntary Compliance filed herewith.

Mark R. Herring
Attorney General

Erin B. Ashwell
Chief Deputy Attorney General

Samuel T. Towell
Deputy Attorney General

Richard S. Schweiker, Jr.
Senior Assistant Attorney General and Chief
Consumer Protection Section

David B. Irvin (VSB # 23927)
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Erin E. Witte (VSB # 81096)
Assistant Attorney General
Consumer Protection Section

202 North Ninth Street

Richmond, Virginia 23219

Phone: (703) 359-6716

Fax: (804) 786-0122

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA,
EX REL. MARK R. HERRING
ATTORNEY GENERAL

o AL

David B. Irvin/




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 28" day of September, 2020, a true copy of the foregoing
Complaint was delivered by email and regular mail to:

Brendan D. O’Toole
Charles E. James, Jr.
Williams Mullen
200 South 10th Street, Suite 1600
P.O. Box 1320 (23218-1320)
Richmond, Virginia 23219
Counsel for Shiva Finance, LLC d/b/a Advance Financial

ARy

David BArvin




ADVANCE FINANCIAL LINE OF CREDIT
DISCLOSURE AND ACCOUNT AGREEMENT

Credit Limit: (SIS

Account #-
Oate | 11012017

Shiva Finance, LLC:
dba Advance Financial 247
100 Oceanside Drive
Nashvilie, Tennessees, 37204

Telephone: 866-982-2572
Bomower Name: [N Telephone: NN

agaress: I

interest Rate and Interest Charges

APR for Cash Advances 36 0 %

You can avoid paying interest for a biliing cycle if you pay your Total Outstanding
Balance in full before the next billing date.

How to Avoid Paying Interest

Annuai Fee Kone

Penaity Fees None

How We Will Calculate Your Balance: We use a method called "average daily principal balance (including current ransac ions)." See your account agreement below

for more details.
Billing Rights: Information on your rights o dispute transactions and how to exercise those rights is provided below in your account agreement.

ACCOUNT AGREEMENT

This Line of Credit Disclosure and A t Agri {“Agreement”} is our contract with you. Please read it carefully. By signing this Agreement and/or
accepting a cash advance ("Cash Advance”} from us, you are agreeing to all of the terms and conditions in this Agreement.

Definitions. In this Agreement, the words "you" and “your” mean the person who signs his Agreement. The words “we,” *us,” and “our” mean Shiva Finance LLC, doing
business as Advance Financial 24/7. The word "Account” means the Line of Credit established and governed by this Agreement.

Complaints. Should you have any complaints regarding this Account - please call us at 1-800-200-4415, Shiva Finance LLC dba Advance Financial 24/7. 100
COeeanside Drive, Nashville, TN 37204,

Promise To Pay. You promise to pay to us all Cash Advances, inferest, fees and all ofher amounts owing o US in accordance with ihis Agreement.

Account. You have submitted an application 10 us for a line of credit (an "Account®). If you electronically sign this Agreement below and we approve your application for
an Account, this Agreement wilt govern our relationship and any Account hat we may open for you. You agree o use your Account only to obtain Cash Advances from
time fo time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. If we approve your application, we will use commercially reasonable efforts to credit the amount of any
Cash Advance you request, subject to the terms of this Agreement, to your Deposit Account (defined in the Credit Authorization below) listed herein on or before the
next banking business day after your appfication is approved. Unavoidable delays as a resull of inadvertent processing errors andfor “acls of God™ may extend the time
necessary o credit your Deposit Account.

Requesting Cash Advances. You may request Cash Advances from your Account, up to the Credit Limit. Cash Advances may be suspended #f any portion of any
~Minimum Payment Due s past due. The minimum Cash Advance amount Is ten dollars (310 00},

CREDIT AUTHORIZATION. When you request a Cash Advance we will seek to deliver the funds directly to your deposit account via an elecironic credit. You authorize
us (which includes, for the puspeses of this Authorization, our sefvice providers, successors, and assigns) to ini iate an electronic credit to the following deposit account

or any substitule deposit account you later designate (the "Deposit Account’) in the amount of any Cash Advance you request: [ ERNEGERGGGG_GGE
or some other bank account you provide to us at a later date ("Bank Account”).

Credit Limit. You may oblain total Cash Advances on your Account only up to the amount of your current Credit Linit. Your initial Credit Limit is stated above. We may
reduce your Credit Limil at any time and for any reason in our sole discretion, including reducing the Credit Limit to zefo. Any Cash Advances will reduce the amount of
your Credit Limit available to you at a given time. If we allow you to take Cash Advances that exceed your Credit Limif, you promise 1o repay the excess immediately

upon demand.

Right to Rescind.You have the right o rescind any requested Cash Advance before midnight on the calendar day immediately following the date the Cash Advance is




made. To exercise this right, you must notify us in writing at our address listed above of your desire to rescind and retumn the proceeds of the Cash Advance. We must

receive such no ice along with any proceeds before midnight on the calendar day immediately following the date the Cash Advance is made.

Periodic interest We will charge simple interest for each day in the billing cycle on the average daily principal balance at the “daily periodic rate” of 0.99%. This is
equivalent to an ANNUAL PERCENTAGE RATE of 360 % (‘Periodic interest Rate”) based on a 365 day year.

How We Will Calculate Your Balance.We calculate the finance charges on your Account by applying the Periodic Interest Rate to the “"average daily principal balance"
of your Account (including current transactions) for the number of days in the billing cycle. To get the “average daily principal balance” we take the outstanding principal
balance of your Account each day and add any new Cash Advances and subtract any principal payments received hat day. This gives us the daily principal balance.
Then, we add up the daily principal balances for the billing cycle and divide the total by the number of days in the billing cycle. This gives us he "average daily principal

balance”.

When Interest Begins. You will be charged interest from the date of each transaction but if you pay in accordance with the Grace Period provision below you will not be

imposed any interest for the applicable billing cycle.

Grace Period. If you pay the Tofal Outstanding Balance (i.e. previous balance plus new cash advances minus payments and credits) in full before he end of the grace
period as designated on your periodic billing statement, then no interest will be imposed for that billing cycle. If you fail to do so, interest will be imposed from the
beginning of the billing cycle as set forth above. If you wish to take advantage of the grace period, then you must make payment or provide us with authorization for
such payment prior to the end of the grace period. If such payment is returned unpaid, then you will be deemed to not have made payment prior to the end of the grace

period.

Periodic Billing Statements. We will email or deliver to you a periodic billing statement at the end of each billing cycle. The periodic billing statement wili show your
Account balance at the beginning of the billing cycle, Minimum Payment Due, and other Account information. You may request that we send you a paper copy of your
periodic billing statement. You must send your request for paper statements in writing to the following address: Advance Financial, ATTN: Virginia Billing, 100
Oceanside Drive, Nashville, Tennessee 37204. Unless you notify us of a billing error as provided below, you accept your periodic bifling statement as an accurate

statement of your Account.

Minimum Payment Due. Each billing cycle you agree to pay us by money order, certified funds, voluntary electronic debit, or some other method to which we agree, at
least the Minimum Payment Due shown on your periodic billing statement by the indicated due date ("Payment Due Date"). If a Payment Due Date is scheduled for a
date on which we are not open for business, then we will credit any payment received on our next business day as if it were received on the scheduled Payment Due
Date. Your “Minimum Payment Due” wiil be the greater of $10.00 or all unpaid interest due for that billing cycle, if any (calculated as explained above), plus an amount

equal to no less than 3% of the outstanding principal batance per calendar month or no less than 1.5% per billing cycle. You may pay more frequently, pay more than

the Minimum Payment Due, or pay your Account balance in part or in fuli at any time without p Y.

if you make extra payments or larger payments in any billing cycle, you will still be required to make at least the Minimum Payment Due each billing cycle, uniess you
have paid your entire Account balance in full. if you make only the Minimum Payment Due each billing cycle, you will pay more in interest and #t will take longer to pay
off your balance. If you mail us a certified check/money order, your payment must be accompanied by your line of credit account number and mailed to he address on
he first page of this Agreement. If any mailed payment does not conform to these requirements, then the processing and applica ion of he payment may be delayed, or

he payment may be rejected.

Application of Payments. We will apply all payments first to accrued and unpaid interest and then to principal.

Income Information and Duty to Inform About Change in Circumstances. Your Credit Limit is primarily based upon your income and ability to repay. You agree we
have the right to demand proof of your current income from time to time. You understand and acknowledge that your Credit Limit may be affected by your current

income information. You further agree to immediately inform us of any significant change in circumstances regarding your income.

Additional Representations and Warranties. You represent and warrant that: (a) you have the right fo enter into this Agreement; (b) you are at least 18 years of age;

and (c) you will notify us immediately in writing of any change of your address or telephone number.

Defauit and Cure. You may be considered in default under this Agreement: (1) If we fail to receive a Minimum Payment Due on or before its scheduled Payment Due
Date; or (2) if our prospect of payment or performance is significantly impaired and one or more of the following shall occur: (a) you fail to timely comply with or perform

any obligation under this Agreement; (b) any representation or warranty made by you to us is false or misieading; or (c) you begin, or any other person puts you in, a



bankruptcy, insolvency or receivership proceeding. You may cure default by paying all past due amounts and or paying your balance in full.

Our Rights in the Event of Default. If you are in default under this Agreement, then following any required notice and cure period we may, at our option and as
permitted by law, do any one or more of the following: (i) declare your entire Account balance immediately due and payable and proceed to collect it; (if) close your
Account or lower your Credit Limit; (iii) exercise alf o her rights, powers, and remedies given by law; and (iv) recover from you all charges, costs and expenses, including
alt collection costs, court costs, and reasonable attomey’s fees as allowed by law. We may charge and collect interest following default or judgment in our favor at the

Periodic Interest Rate disclosed above or a lesser amount as may be required by law.

Cancellation.You may cancel your Account at any time by notifying us in writing that you wish for your Account to be closed and by paying us the entire outstanding
Account Balance in full. If your employment or income status changes or if we otherwise in good faith believe that we are in jeopardy of not being repaid as agreed, then
we may suspend making future Cash Advances on your Account at any time and in our sole discre ion, provided that if such suspension is made pursuant to this
paragraph and so long as you are not in default of this Agreement, you will be allowed to repay any remaining balance over time pursuant to this Agreement. If your

Account remains inactive for a period of 12 months and there is no outstanding balance, then we may cancel the Account at our discretion.

Credit Reporting.You agree that we may obtain information about you from third parties, inciuding, but not limited to, consumer reporting agencies at any time while

your Account is open. WE MAY REPORT INFORMATION ABOUT YOUR ACCOUNT TO CREDIT BUREAUS. LATE PAYMENTS, MISSED PAYMENTS, OR OTHER

DEFAULTS ON YOUR ACCOUNT MAY BE REFLECTED IN YOUR CREDIT REPORT.

Amendments. You agree that we may change any of the terms of this Agreement, including the amount and method of computing the Periodic Interest Rate, at any
ime. We will provide you with 45 days prior notice of such changes as and when required by law. If we notify you of changes to this Agreement and you do not agree
with these changes, you must notify us of your decision to opt-out of the changes in writing within 45 days of the date we give you notice of the changes. If you opt-out,

we will automatically close your Account, and you can then repay any remaining balance over time pursuant to this Agreement.

General. You agree that if we grant any waiver, modification or other indulgence of any kind at any time, it shall apply only to the specific instance involved and will not
act as a waiver, modification or indulgence for any other or future act, event or condition. We may delay enforcing any of our rights under this Agreement without losing
hem. Time is of the essence of this Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties and no other agreements, representations or
warranties other than those stated herein shall be binding unless reduced in writing and signed by all parties. You may not assign this Agreement without our prior
written consent. We may assign this Agreement without your consent. Except for any provision in the Jury Trial Waiver and Arbitration Clause, if any provision in this

Agreement is determined by a court or arbitrator to be unenforceabie, all other provisions will remain in full force and effect.

Governing Law.This Agreement will be consirued, applied and govemed by the laws of the State of Virginia except that the Jury Trial Waiver and Arbitration Clause is

governed by the Federal Arbifration Act ("FAA"), as amended.



JURY TRIAL WAIVER AND ARBITRATION CLAUSE.

By signing this agreement, you agree to the Jury Trial Waiver and Arbitration Clause (“Clause™):

Background and Scope.

What is arbitration?

An alternative to
court.

In arbitration, a third party (“Arbiter”) solves Disputes in a hearing
(*hearing”). You, related third parties, and we, waive the right to go to
court. Such “parties” waive jury trials.

Is it different from
court and jury trials?

Yes.

The hearing is private and less formal than court. Arbiters may limit pre-
hearing fact finding, called “discovery.” The decision is final. Courts rarely
overturn Arbiters.

Who does the Clause
cover?

You, Us, and
Others.

This Clause governs the parties, their heirs, successors, assigns, and
third parties related to any Dispute.

Which Disputes are
covered?

All Disputes.

In this Clause, the word “Disputes” has the broadest possible meaning.
This Clause governs all “Disputes” involving the parties. This includes all
claims even indirectly related to your application and agreements with us.
This includes claims related to information you previously gave us. It
includes all past agreements. It includes extensions, renewals,
refinancings, or payment plans. It includes claims related to collections,
privacy, and customer information. It includes claims related to setting
aside this Clause. lt includes claims about the Clause's validity and
scope. It includes claims about whether to arbitrate.

Are you waiving
rights?

Yes.

You waive your rights to:

1.Have juries solve Disputes.

2.Have courts, other than small-claims courts, solve Disputes.
3.Serve as a private attorney general or in a representative capacity.
4.Be in a class action.

Are you waiving class
action rights?

Yes.

COURTS AND ARBITERS WON'T ALLOW CLASS ACTIONS. You
waive your rights to be in a class action as a representative and a
member. Only individual arbitration or small-claims courts will solve
Disputes. You waive your right to have representative claims. Unless
reversed on appeal if a court invalidates this waiver the Clause will
be void.

What law applies?

The Federal
Arbitration Act
("FAA").

This transaction involves interstate commerce, so the FAA governs. If a
court finds the FAA doesn’t apply, and the finding can'’t be appealed, then
your state’s law governs. The Arbiter must apply substantive law
consistent with the FAA. The Arbiter must follow statutes of limitation and
privilege claims.

Can the parties try to
solve Disputes first?

Yes.

We can try to solve Disputes if you call us at 1-866-982-2572. If this
doesn’t solve the Dispute, mail us notice, within 100 days of the Dispute
date. In your notice, tell us the details and how you want to solve it. We
will try to solve the Dispute. If we make a written offer (“Settlement Offer”),
you can reject it and arbitrate. If we don’t solve the Dispute, either party
may start arbitration. To start arbitration, contact an Arbiter or arbitration
group listed below. No party will disclose settlement proposals to the
Arbiter during arbitration.

How should you
contact us?

By mail.

Send mail to: 100 Oceanside Drive, Nashville, TN 37204. You can call
us at [Telephone Number] or use certified mail to confirm receipt.

Can small-claims
court solve some

Yes

Each party has the right to arbitrate, or to go to small-claims court if the
small-claims court has the power to hear the Dispute. Arbitration will solve




Disputes?

all Disputes that the smali-claims court does not have the power to hear.
If there is an appeal from small-claims court, or if a Dispute changes so
that the small-claims court loses the power to hear it, then the Dispute will
only be heard by an Arbiter.

Do other options

Both parties may use lawful self-help remedies. This includes set-off or
repossession and sale of any collateral, if applicable. Both parties may
seek remedies which don’t claim money damages. This includes pre-

exist? Yes. judgment seizure, injunctions, or equitable relief.
The Clause stays effective, unless the parties sign an agreement stating it
doesn't. The Clause governs if you rescind the transaction. It governs if
Yes unless you default, renew, prepay, or pay. It governs if your contract is
Will this Clause otherwise discharged through bankruptcy. The Clause remains effective, despite a
continue to govern? lagreed. transaction’s termination, amendment, expiration, or performance.




Process

How does arbitration
start?

Mailing a notice.

Either party may mail the other a request to arbitrate, even if a lawsuit has
been filed. The notice should describe the Dispute and relief sought. The
receiving party must mail a response within 20 days. If you mail the
demand, you may choose the arbitration group. Or, your demand may
state that you want the parties to choose a local Arbiter. If related third
parties or we mail the demand, you must respond in 20 days. Your
response must choose an arbitration group or propose a local Arbiter. If it
doesn’t, we may choose the group.

Who arbitrates?

AAA, JAMS, or
an agreed
Arbiter.

You may select the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) (1-800-778-
7879) http://www.adr.org or JAMS (1-800-352-5267)
hitp:/www jamsadr.com. The parties may also agree in writing to a local
attorney, retired judge, or Arbiter in good standing with an arbitration
group. The Arbiter must arbitrate under AAA or JAMS consumer rules.
You may get a copy of these rules from such group. Any rules that conflict
with any of our agreements with you, don’t apply. If these options aren’t
available, and the parties can’t agree on another, a court may choose the
Arbiter. Such Arbiter must enforce your agreements with us, as they are
written.

Will the hearing be
held nearby?

Yes.

The Arbiter will order the hearing within 30 miles of your home or where
the transaction occurred.

What about appeals?

Appeals are
limited.

The Arbiter’s decision will be final. A party may file the Arbiter's award
with the proper court. Arbitration will soive appeals of a small-claims court
judgment. A party may appeal under the FAA. If the amount in
controversy exceeds $ 10,000.00, a party may appeal the Arbiter's
finding. Such appeal will be to a three Arbiter panel from the same
arbitration group. The appeal will be de novo, and solved by majority vote.

The appealing party bears appeal costs, despite the outcome.

Arbitration Fees and Awards

Will we advance
Arbitration Fees?

Yes, but you
pay your costs.

We will advance your “Arbitration Fees” if you ask us to. This includes
filing, administrative, hearing, and Arbiter's fees. You pay your attorney
fees and other expenses.

Are damages and
attorney fees
possible?

Yes, if allowed
by law.

The Arbiter may award the same damages as a court. Arbiters may
award reasonable attorney fees, and expenses, if allowed by law.

Will you pay
Arbitration Fees if

If the Arbiter awards you funds, you don’t reimburse us the Arbitration
Fees.

you win? No.

If the Arbiter doesn’t award you funds, then you must repay the
Will you ever pay Arbitration Fees. If you must pay Arbitration Fees, the amount won’t
Arbitration Fees? Yes. exceed state court costs.
Can an award be A party may request details from the Arbiter, within 14 days of the ruling.
explained? Yes. Upon such request, the Arbiter will explain the ruling in writing.

Other Options.



Consider these choices:

1.Informal Dispute Resolution. Contact us and attempt to settle any
Yes.You can get |Disputes.

Ifyou don'twantto |our services 2.Small-claims Court. Seek to solve Disputes in small-claims court,
arbitrate, can you still |and decide not |within state law limits.

get a transaction? to arbitrate. 3.0pt-Out of Arbitration.Sign and then timely opt-out.

Write us within 60 calendar days of signing your agreement to opt-out of
the Clause for that agreement. List your name, address, account number
Can you opt-out of Yes. Within 60 [and date. List that you "opt out." If you opt out, it will only apply to that
the Clause? days. agreement.




YOUR BILLING RIGHTS: KEEP THIS DOCUMENT FOR FUTURE USE

This notice tells you about your rights and our responsibilities under the Fair Credit Billing Act.

What To Do If You Find A Mistake On Your Statement

If you think there is an error on your statement, write to us at:
Advance Financial 24/7

ATTN: Virginia Billing

100 Oceanside Drive

Nashville, TN 37204

In your letter, give us the following information:

. Account information: Your name and account number.

. Dollar amount: The doilar amount of the suspected error.

. Description of problem: If you think there is an error on your bill, describe what you believe is wrong and why you believe it is a mistake.

You must contact us:

. Wi hin 60 days after the error appeared on your statement.

- At least 3 business days before an automated payment is scheduled, if you want to stop payment on the amount you think is wrong.

You must notify us of any potential errors in writing. You may call us, but if you do we are not required to investigate any potential errors and you may have to pay the
amount in question.

What Will Happen After We Receive Your Letter

When we receive your ietter, we must do two things:

1. Within 30 days of receiving your letter, we must tell you that we received your letter. We will also tell you if we have already corrected the error.

2. Within 90 days of receiving your letter, we must either correct the error or explain to you why we think the bill is correct.

While we investigate whether or not there has been an error:

- We cannot try to collect the amount in question, or report you as delinquent on that amount.

. The charge in question may remain on your statement, and we may continue to charge you interest on that amount.

- While you do not have to pay the amount in question, you are responsible for the remainder of your balance.

. We can apply any unpaid amount against your credit limit.

After we finish our investigation, one of two hings will happen:

. If we made a mistake: You will not have to pay the amount in question or any interest or other fees related to that amount.

- If we do not believe there was a mistake: You will have to pay the amount in question, along with applicable interest and fees. We will send you a statement of the
amount you owe and the date payment is due. We may then report you as delinquent if you do not pay the amount we think you owe.

If you receive our explanation but still believe your bill is wrong, you must write to us within 10 days telling us that you stili refuse to pay. If you do so, we cannot report
you as delinquent without also reporting that you are questioning your biil. We must tell you the name of anyone to whom we reported you as definquent, and we must
let those organizations know when the matter has been settied between us. If we do not follow all of the rules above, you do not have to pay the first $50 of the amount
you question even if your bill is comect.

When signing this Agreement, you represent and acknowledge that:

(1)lt was filled in before you signed it.

(2)You have read, understand, and agree to all of the disclosures above and o her terms of this Agreement, including the “Jury Trial Waiver and Arbitration Clause "
(3)You have received a copy of our Privacy Policy

This Agreement is retained electronically by us and all other versions hereof, whether electronic or in tangible format, constitute facsimiles or reproductions only.

Electronically Signed by : |GG

: Fi i
Date : 11/01/2017 Company Name: Shiva Finance, LLC d/b/a Advance Financial

By: Mike Hodges

s
Signature : % Ve § g )

Date : 11/01/2017



COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINIA

Office of the Attorney General

Mark R, Herring 202 North Ninth Street
Attommey General Richmond, Virginia 23219
804-786-2071
Fax 804-786-1991
Virginia Relay Services
800-828-1120
7-1-1
December 10, 2019

VIA EMAIL AND CERTIFIED MAIL/RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

H. Blake Sims, Esq.

Hudson Cook, LLP

9431 Bradmore Lane, Suite 201
Ooltewah, TN 37363

Re; Shiva Finance, LLC d/b/a Advance Financial 24/7

Dear Mr. Sims:

I 'am writing to you in your official capacity as the Secretary of Shiva Finance, LLC d/b/a
Advance Financial 24/7 (“Advance Financial”). This Office has authority to investigate possible
violations of, and enforce, among other statutes, the Virginia Consumer Protection Act, Virginia
Code Ann. §§ 59.1-196 et seq. (“the VCPA™), and portions of the Consumer Financial Protection
Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5301 et seq. (“the CFPA™).

Based upon our review of materials provided to this Office, and our own investigation, we
“have reason to believe that Advance Financial has violated Virginia Code § 59.1-200(A)(14), by
using a “false promise” or “misrepresentation” in its line of credit contracts with Virginia
consumers by stating that it waives its rights to go to court, other than small claims court, and that it
will arbitrate all disputes, when it operates in a contrary manner. In this connection, we understand
that Advance Financial has filed hundreds of lawsuits in Virginia general district courts since 2017
in violation of its reciprocally binding contractual arbitration provision. This conduct also violates
the CFPA’s prohibitions against the use of “unfair,” “abusive” and “deceptive” practices in offering

- or providing consumer financial products. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536.

The VCPA and the CFPA authorize this Office to bring an action to enjoin any violation of
those statutes and to seek consumer restitution, civil penalties, and reimbursement of the
Commonwealth’s attorneys’ fees and costs.

Please be advised that this Office is contemplating filing suit against Advance Financial to
obtain appropriate relief under the VCPA and the CFPA. Pursuant to § 59.1-203 of the VCPA, this



Shiva Finance, LLC
December 10, 2019
Page 2 of 3

Office is providing an opportunity for Advance Financial to appear in this Office to attempt to
explain that no violations have occurred. If no adequate explanation is or can be provided,
Advance Financial may have the opportunity to execute an appropriate assurance of voluntary
compliance with this Office. If Advance Financial cannot provide an adequate explanation, and
refuses to execute an appropriate assurance of voluntary compliance, we may file suit without
further notice.

If Advance Financial desires to appear and provide an explanation, you or another
representative of the company are welcome to give me a call and arrange a meeting. On the other
hand, if Advance Financial does not wish to attempt to explain that no violations have occurred, but
is instead interested in executing an appropriate assurance of voluntary compliance, you or another
representative should call to inform me of that as well. I can be reached at (703) 369-6716. We
would appreciate a response of some sort by no later than December 31,2019. If we do not hear
anything from Advance Financial by that date, we will assume that Advance Financial does not
wish to pursue either of the alternatives described.

If Advance Financial desires to negotiate entering into an appropriate assurance of voluntary
compliance, we also ask that Advance Financial provide us with copies of the following documents
at least seven (7) days in advance of the scheduled meeting:

1. Copies of all form loan contracts that Advance Financial has used in Virginia or
with Virginia borrowers since January 2017, and information detailing the time
periods for which each form contract was used.

2. A list of all cases filed by Advance Financial in a Virginia general district court
against a consumer, including:

The city, county or town in which the case was filed;

The status of the case (judgment, dismissed, pending, etc.);

Whether garishment proceedings have been filed; and

What amounts, if any, have been collected from the consumer post-filing.

oo

In this regard, if Advance Financial has a document retention or destruction policy, it is
asked to suspend it immediately. Regardless of whether Advance Financial currently has such a
policy, it is asked to take precautions to ensure that none of the documents requested above are
inadvertently or intentionally destroyed. ’ '

Thank you for your attention to this matter.
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Assistant Attorney General
Consumer Protection Section
Predatory Lending Unit

cc: Registered Agents, Inc.
Registered Agent for Shiva Finance, LLC
4445 Corporation Lane, Suite 264
Virginia Beach, VA 23462

Shiva Finance, LLC d/b/a Advance Financial 24/7
100 Oceanside Drive
Nashville, TN 37204



